### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

### CASE NO. SC09-966

### AUNDRA JOHNSON,

Petitioner,

-VS-

### STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

### **BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS**

## ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, THIRD DISTRICT

Carlos J. Martinez Public Defender Eleventh Judicial Circuit of Florida 1320 NW 14th Street Miami, Florida 33125 (305) 305.545.1928

ROBERT KALTER Assistant Public Defender Florida Bar No. 260711

**Counsel for Petitioner** 

#

### **INTRODUCTION**

Petitioner, Aundra Johnson, was the appellant in the district court of appeal and the defendant in the Circuit Court. Respondent, State of Florida, was the appellee in the district court of appeal and prosecution in the Circuit Court. The symbols "R." and "T." refer to portions of the record on appeal and transcripts of the lower court proceedings, respectively.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The State of Florida filed an information charging Aundra Johnson with burglary and fleeing a police officer. (R. 9-17).<sup>1</sup> A jury trial was conducted before the Honorable Julio Jiminez. The jury found Johnson not guilty of the burglary and guilty of fleeing a police officer. The only issue this Court must resolve is whether the Third District Court of Appeal misapplied the harmless error doctrine to the trial judge's improper instruction to the jury, over the objection of counsel, which prohibited them from asking any questions concerning the law and from asking to have any testimony re-read during their deliberations.

### FACTS CONCERNING THE FLEEING A POLICE OFFICER CHARGE

Juan Nadal, a City of Miami patrol officer, was on routine patrol when he heard that the police were involved in a chase of a van that was involved in a burglary. (T. 414).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>The information charged several other crimes which were abandoned by the state prior to trial. (R. 9-17).

Nadal saw a blue van run through a red light and decided to get involved in the chase. (T. 415). The officer turned on his siren and lights and started to chase the van. (T. 415). During the chase the officer noticed that the tires of the van had blown out and eventually, an individual who Nadal identified as Johnson, jumped out of the driver's side of the van. (T. 426). Nadal admitted he did not know how many people were in the van and he never saw Johnson actually drive the van. (T. 435-6). Nadal exited his patrol car and chased Johnson on foot. (T. 427). Eventually, Nadal stopped and arrested Johnson. (T. 431).

Jennifer Welkner, Johnson's girlfriend, testified she was with Johnson when they decided to burglarize a house. (T. 305). She claimed Johnson went into the house and as she was assigned to be the look out. (T. 307). Eventually, she went into the house and as they were taking property from the house she saw a car, heard an alarm and then she told Johnson they should leave. (T. 312-3). Despite this testimony the jury found Johnson not guilty of the burglary. Ms. Welkner went on to testify that Johnson drove the van away and that during the chase both her and Johnson jumped out of the car. (T. 317). Ms. Welkner was able to escape without being caught by the police. (T. 317).

After finishing reading the set of standard jury instructions which had been compiled with the approval of the State and the defense, the judge decided to add the following instruction not previously mentioned during the charge conference:

Now let me caution you regarding the communication, if you

want to ask a question regarding the facts, let me caution you that we do not have a simultaneous transcript of these proceedings we don't have a transcript and any questions regarding the facts, I will tell you that you must rely upon your own recollection of the evidence. (T. 659).

The court went on to instruct the jury that: "If you have a question regarding the

law, you have all the law that pertains to this case in those instructions. There are no

other laws." (T. 659).

Defense counsel's objection to these improper jury instruction was overruled.

(T. 659). Prior to the jury retiring to deliberate the judge, once again, instructed the jury:

Ladies and gentlemen and, again, if you have a question regarding the facts I cannot reopen the facts. I cannot explain the evidence to you. The normal answer that I give you is that you must rely upon your own recollection of the evidence. If you have differences of opinion you must hash them out amongst yourselves. (T. 661).

After deliberations the jury found Johnson not guilty of burglary and guilty of

fleeing a police officer. (R. 185).

On direct appeal Johnson argued the improper jury instruction which discouraged the jury from asking any questions concerning the law or asking for any testimony to be re-read was reversible error. The state conceded the trial court's jury instruction, which was given over the objection of counsel, was error. However, the state argued that the error was harmless.

The Third District Court of Appeal recognized that the trial judge erred in telling

the jury on two separate occasions that they could not have testimony re-read nor, could they ask any questions concerning clarifications on the law as given in the jury instructions. The majority opinion however, concluded that since the evidence was overwhelming the trial judge's violation of rule 3.410 was harmless error. Judge Cope filed a dissenting opinion wherein he wrote that it was error to apply the harmless error doctrine to the type of error committed in this case and even if the harmless error doctrine was applicable it was impossible for the state to establish beyond a reasonable doubt that the improper jury instructions which could have tainted the jury deliberations did not contribute to the jury verdict.

A petition for rehearing was filed wherein, it was argued that the Third District's majority opinion conflicted with numerous opinions from the Fourth District Court of Appeal which have concluded that it is impossible to apply the harmless error doctrine to the improper jury instruction in this case since, there is no way to determine how the jury was prejudiced by the improper instruction. This petition was denied.

A notice to invoke jurisdiction was filed along with briefs wherein, Mr. Johnson argued that the Third District's majority opinion, which applied the harmless error doctrine to this case, was in direct conflict with the Fourth District Court of Appeal cases which have held that it is impossible to apply the harmless error doctrine to the improper jury instruction given in this case. Mr. Johnson further argued that even if the harmless error doctrine was applicable to the error in this case, the Third District's conclusion that the error was harmless since the evidence was overwhelming, directly conflicted with numerous cases from this Court which required the state to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the improper jury instructions which prohibited the jury from asking any questions during deliberations concerning the law or the testimony did not affect the jury deliberations.

### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

The Third District Court of Appeal's majority decision recognized that the trial judge erred when he told the jury on two separate occasions, over the objection of counsel, that they could not ask to have any testimony re-read or ask any questions concerning the laws that applied in this case. The majority concluded that since in their opinion the evidence was overwhelming, the improper jury instructions were harmless error. In reaching the conclusion that the error was harmless the majority opinion failed to even attempt to evaluate how the improper jury instruction may have affected the jury's verdict, which is the proper test when applying harmless error in this state. If the court would have attempted to apply the proper harmless error test to the error in this case, the court would have come to the same conclusion as both the dissenting opinion and the cases from the Fourth District Court of Appeal, which is that since it is impossible to determine what prejudice the defendant suffered from the improper jury instruction, it is impossible for the state to ever establish beyond a reasonable doubt that the error did not contribute to the jury verdict. Therefore, since the improper jury instruction given in this case can never be deemed harmless error, this Court should quash the opinion of the Third District and conclude that the error committed in this case was per se reversible error and order a new trial for Mr. Johnson.

#### ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL JUDGE COMMITTED PER SE REVERSIBLE ERROR WHEN HE INSTRUCTED THE JURY OVER THE OBJECTION OF DEFENSE COUNSEL THAT IT COULD NOT ASK DURING DELIBERATIONS TO HAVE THE TESTIMONY OF ANY WITNESSES READ BACK AND THAT, IT COULD NOT ASK ANY QUESTIONS REGARDING THE LAW.

Fla.R.Cr.P. 3.410 provides:

After the jurors have retired to consider their verdict, if they request additional instructions or to have any testimony read to them they shall be conducted into the courtroom by the officer who has them in charge and the court may give them the additional instructions or may order the testimony read to them. The instructions shall be given and the testimony read only after notice to the prosecuting attorney and to counsel for the defendant.

Based on this rule, it is error for a trial judge to instruct the jury that they can not

ask questions concerning the law or ask to have testimony re-read. *Davis v. State*, 760 So.2d 977, 978 (Fla. 3d DCA 2000)("This preemptive instruction by the trial judge was obviously intended to deter any requests to have testimony read back. While it is understandable that no trial judge wishes to encourage read-back requests, given the mandate of Rule 3.410, it is error to discourage them."); *Avila v. State*, 781 So.2d 413 (Fla. 4th DCA 2001)(trial court abused its discretion in informing jury that there were no transcripts and that the jury members should rely upon their collective recollection, without mentioning that a method of read back was available); *Rigdon v. State*, 621 So.2d 475 (Fla. 4th DCA 1993)(conviction reversed based upon jury instruction which may

reasonably have conveyed to the jurors that to ask for rereading of testimony would be futile or was prohibited, even though instruction contained indications that there remained a possibility of having testimony read back).

The trial judge in this case clearly violated Rule 3.410 and the cases decided under that rule. After finishing his reading to the jury of the set of standard jury instructions the judge decided to add the following instruction not previously mentioned during the charge conference:

Now let me caution you regarding the communication, if you want to ask a question regarding the facts, let me caution you that we do not have a simultaneous transcript of these proceedings we don't have a transcript and any questions regarding the facts, I will tell you that you must rely upon your own recollection of the evidence. (T. 659).

After telling the jury that no transcript existed to help answer any questions the jury might have about the facts of the case, the judge then foreclosed any potential questions from the jury about the legal principles it was required to apply to those facts when he gave the jury the following instruction:

If you have a question regarding the law, you have all the law that pertains to this case in those instructions. There are no other laws. (T. 659).

Defense counsel's objection to this improper jury instruction was overruled. (T.

659). Prior to the jury retiring to deliberate, the judge once again instructed the jury:

Ladies and gentlemen and, again, if you have a question regarding the facts I cannot reopen the facts. I cannot explain the evidence to you. The normal answer that I give you is that you must rely upon your own recollection of the evidence. If you have differences of opinion you must hash them out amongst yourselves. (T. 661).<sup>2</sup>

As in the above-cited cases, these instructions improperly conveyed to the jurors not only that to ask for re-reading of any testimony would be futile or was prohibited but also, told the jury that it would be futile to ask the court to explain any of the laws that apply to the case. Thus, through the combination of these two instructions the judge essentially told the jury that it could not ask any questions at all once the jurors retired to begin their deliberations. The judge told the jury that it had everything it needed to render a verdict, and essentially told the jury that nothing else could or would be provided to them in the way of additional instructions or having any testimony read to them. This instruction clearly contravened the express language of Rule 3.410.

The Third District Court of Appeal recognized that the trial judge erred in telling the jury on two separate occasions that they could not have testimony re-read nor could they ask any questions concerning clarifications on the law. The majority opinion however, concluded that since the evidence was overwhelming the trial judge's violation of Rule 3.410 was harmless error when the court stated the following:

Although the State concedes that the trial court erred in instructing the jury, the State argues that the error was harmless. Given the facts of this case, we agree that this error was harmless. **The evidence presented at trial was overwhelming as to the charge for which Johnson was convicted-fleeing a police officer.** 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Before the jury began deliberations defense counsel renewed all previous made objections. (T. 661).

Judge Cope filed a dissenting opinion wherein, he argued that it was error to apply the harmless error doctrine to the type of error committed in this case and even if the harmless error doctrine was applicable, it was impossible for the state to establish beyond a reasonable doubt that the improper jury instructions which could have tainted the jury deliberations did not contribute to the jury verdict when he stated the following:

We should order a new trial. Defense counsel timely and correctly objected to the trial court's instruction. Neither the State nor the majority opinion has cited any authority for the proposition that this type of error is subject to harmless error analysis. Assuming arguendo that such an analysis could be applied, it is inappropriate here, where the jury had enough reasonable doubt about the State's case to acquit the defendant on a number of charges.

The Fourth District Court of Appeal has consistently recognized that the harmless error doctrine can not be applied to an error wherein, the trial judge wrongfully tells a jury before deliberations that they can not ask any questions concerning the law, nor can they ask to have testimony re-read since it is impossible to establish beyond a reasonable doubt that this type of error would not affect a jury verdict. In *Biscardi v. State*, 511 So.2d 575 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 1987), the trial judge over the objection of counsel told the jury that there was no provision for reinstruction and or to have testimony read back. The state, similar to the state in this case, argued that the improper jury instruction was harmless error. In refusing to apply a harmless error analysis to this type of error the court held the following:

The state points out that rule 3.410, Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure, leaves reinstruction to the judge's discretion, and from this argues that the above comment to the jury was not error; or, if error, then harmless, because appellant is unable to show prejudice. **Obviously, without going into the jurors' heads or their communication with each other appellant cannot demonstrate prejudice.** 

*Biscardi*, 511 So.2d at 581.

In *Rigdon v. State*, 621 So.2d 475 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 1993), the defendant was convicted of aggravated assault with a firearm. On appeal defendant raised numerous issues including the fact that the trial judge made several erroneous evidentiary rulings and, that the trial judge erred in instructing the jury over the objection of counsel that the court was not permitted to read back testimony. As to the evidentiary issues, the court concluded that the trial judge had committed error but that the errors were harmless. However, as to the judge's improper instruction as to whether the jury can have testimony read back, the court refused to apply the harmless error doctrine and instead, concluded that since the instruction given to the jury may have lead the jury to believe they could not ask to have testimony read back, the error was harmful. This is evidenced by the following holdings:

... this court in Biscardi v. State, 511 So.2d 575, 580-81 (Fla. 4th DCA 1987), and Huhn, 511 So.2d at 591, where defense counsel had voiced an objection, held that similar instructions which indicated to the jury that there was really no provision for reinstruction of the jury or review of testimony, particularly where the trial court had earlier refused to advise the jury it could take notes, was harmful error because the comments may reasonably have conveyed to the jurors that to ask for clarification of instructions or rereading of testimony would be futile or was prohibited.

The court went on to hold:

In the present case defense counsel properly preserved the issue for appellate review by objecting to the subject instruction when moving for a mistrial. Employing the reasoning underlying the foregoing cases, while the instruction given contains indications that there remained a possibility of having testimony read back, it nevertheless resembles the instruction condemned in the above cases because the trial judge's comments may reasonably have conveyed to the jurors that to ask for rereading of testimony would be futile or was prohibited. This was reversible error.

*Rigdon*, 621 So.2d at 479-80.

In Huhn v. State, 511 So.2d 583 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 1987), the trial judge gave the

jury almost the exact same improper jury instruction prohibiting questions on the law and

having testimony re-read when the court gave the following instruction:

Also, there is really no provision for me to either reinstruct you after I instruct you or certainly to have any testimony read back or certainly to call any witnesses back. You are going to have to remember the testimony and the instructions on the law as best you can and probably the next time we hear from you will be when that buzzer in there rings and we all jump about a foot up in the air and then, you have a verdict.

Huhn, 511 So.2d at 591.

In ruling that the improper jury instruction was a violation of Rule 3.410 and harmful error the court recognized that it was impossible to articulate the prejudice caused by the improper instruction since there is no way of knowing whether the instruction prevented the jury from asking questions concerning the law or wanted to have testimony re-read when the court held the following: Furthermore, perhaps jurors would have asked questions pertaining to the instructions or sought to have certain testimony read to them if they had thought it possible. In our view, the error was harmful.

Huhn, 511 So.2d at 591.

The Fourth District Court of Appeal's decisions in the above cited cases and Judge Cope's dissenting opinion in this case which conclude that the error that occurred in this case was per se reversible error, are consistent with this Court's opinions which define and apply the per se reversible error doctrine. In *State v. Diguilio*, 491 So.2d 1129 (Fla. 1986), this Court was asked to reconsider the issue of whether an improper comment on a defendant's right to remain silent was per se reversible error. In reaching the conclusion that an improper comment on silence should not be considered per se reversible error, the court set out the following test to determine whether an error is per se reversible error:

Per se reversible errors are limited to those errors which are "so basic to a fair trial that their infraction can never be treated as harmless error." Chapman, 386 U.S. at 23, 87 S.Ct. at 827-28. In other words, those errors which are always harmful. The test of whether a given type of error can be properly categorized as per se reversible is the harmless error test itself. **If application of the test to the type of error involved will always result in a finding that the error is harmful, then it is proper to categorize the error as per se reversible.** If application of the test results in a finding that the type of error involved is not always harmful, then it is improper to categorize the error as per se reversible. If an error which is always harmful is improperly categorized as subject to harmless error analysis, the court will nevertheless reach the correct result: reversal of conviction because of harmful error. By contrast, if an error which is not always harmful is improperly categorized as per se reversible, the court will erroneously reverse an indeterminate number of convictions

where the error was harmless.

### *Diguilio*, 491 at 1135.

Therefore, in order to determine whether the error committed in this case was per se reversible error, this Court must attempt to apply the harmless error doctrine to the error and if the result will always be that the error was harmful, then the error must be considered per se reversible error. A review of cases where this Court has concluded that the error was per se reversible error, along with cases where the court applied the harmless error doctrine to improper communications with the jury which did not violate Rule 3.410 will clearly establish that when applying the proper harmless error analysis to the error in this case, the result will always be that the error is harmful. Therefore, consistent with the holding in *Diguilio*, this Court should conclude that the error in this case was per se reversible error.

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