#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

**CASE NO. SC09-966** 

### AUNDRA JOHNSON,

Petitioner,

VS.

## THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

#### **BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS**

## ON APPEAL FROM THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA

BILL McCOLLUM Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

RICHARD L. POLIN Miami Bureau Chief Florida Bar No. 0230987

NICHOLAS MERLIN Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar Number 0029236 Criminal Appeals Unit 444 Brickell Avenue, #650 Miami, Florida 33131 (305) 377-5441

##

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

## **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

The Petitioner alleges that the trial court committed per se reversible error when it instructed the jury that a simultaneous transcript of the proceedings was unavailable and that the jury was required to rely on its own recollection of the evidence. However, as a general rule, most errors that occur during a trial are harmless, and per se reversal is an extreme outcome that is only warranted where the proceedings were fundamentally unfair or where the basic guarantees of due process were vitiated. In the instant case, the trial court's read-back instruction simply does not fall within the limited class of cases involving structural error, and given the facts of this case, the lower court's instruction, was at most, harmless. The trial court's instruction was announced after all the evidence had been presented. All of the witnesses, including the Petitioner's girlfriend, collectively

and consistently indicated that the Petitioner was at the scene of the crime; that he fled while being chased by the police in a car and on foot; and that he was apprehended a short while later. While the Petitioner alleges that the district court below misapplied the harmless error analysis, it is clear that the majority opinion considered the totality of the circumstances and that the applicable standards were followed. Moreover, the Petitioner points to nothing in the record, either in general or in particular, which might have generated confusion among the jurors, or which would have affected the outcome his case. Given the facts of this case, a per se rule would lead to an absurd result, requiring reversal even in those situations where a defendant received an otherwise fair trial, and but for the judge's statement, would not even have been an issue. Moreover, such reasoning would be inconsistent with the tenor of this Court's prior holdings. For any and all of those reasons, the trial court's erroneous instruction about read-back testimony should not require reversal in all cases.

## **ARGUMENT**

THE COMPLAINED ERROR OF DISCOURAGING THE JURY FROM REQUESTING A READ-BACK OF TESTIMONY WAS HARMLESS AS IT DID NOT CONTRIBUTE TO THE PETITIONER'S CONVICTION.

The Petitioner alleges that he is entitled to a new trial because the trial court's instruction effectively discouraged the jury from asking to have portions of the transcript or the testimony of the witnesses read back. The Petitioner contends

that the court's instruction amounted to reversible error, even though there is no indication that such testimony would have been requested or that he was denied a fair trial. In support of his claim, the Petitioner cites to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.410, which provides the following:

Jury Request to Review Evidence or for Additional Instructions
After the jurors have retired to consider their verdict, *if they request* additional instructions or to have any testimony read to them they *shall be conducted* into the courtroom by the officer who has them in charge and the court *may give* them the additional instructions *or may order* the testimony read to them. The instructions shall be given and the testimony read only after notice to the prosecuting attorney and to counsel for the defendant.

Id. (emphasis added). "Under this rule, the trial court has wide latitude in the area of the reading of testimony to the jury. In this respect, the trial court may provide a limited, or partial, readback of testimony specifically requested by the jury, as long as that testimony is not misleading." Avila v. State, 781 So. 2d 413, 415 (Fla. 4th DCA 2001); see also Rigdon v. State, 621 So. 2d 475 (Fla. 4th DCA 1993); Biscardi v. State, 511 So. 2d 575 (Fla. 4th DCA 1987); cf. Diaz v. State, 567 So. 2d 18, 19 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990); Davis v. State, 760 So. 2d 977, 978 (Fla. 3d DCA 2000) ("We find that the trial court erred by instructing the jury that the law did not allow the court to read back testimony. See Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.410. This preemptive instruction by the trial judge was obviously intended to deter any requests to have testimony read back. While it is understandable that no trial judge wishes to encourage read-back requests, given the mandate of rule 3.410, it is error to

discourage them. In our view, however, this error does not constitute fundamental error. Therefore, as the issue was not preserved by defense counsel with an objection to the offending instruction, it has been waived for appellate purposes."), rev'd on other grounds by State v. Davis, 791 So. 2d 1085, 1086 (Fla. 2001).<sup>5</sup>

Here, the State notes that generally, most errors that occur during trial are harmless, even though some errors will always invalidate a conviction. *Sullivan v. Louisiana*, 508 U.S. at 275, 279 (1993) (citing *Arizona v. Fulminante*, 499 U.S. 279, 306-07, 309-10 (1991)). For instance, structural defects in the trial mechanism defy harmless-error analysis because "[t]he entire conduct of the trial from beginning to end is obviously affected." *Fulminante*, 499 U.S. at 309-10. Constitutional violations that defy harmless-error analysis affect the framework within which the trial proceeds, rather than merely an error in the trial process itself. *Neder v. United States*, 527 U.S. 1, 8 (1999) (citing *Fulminante*, 499 U.S. at

\_

There is a difference between "per se reversible error" and "fundamental error." The general rule is that a reversal in a criminal case must be based on a prejudicial error that was preserved by a timely objection in the trial court. See § 924.051, Fla. Stat. (2006). A fundamental error is an exception to the contemporaneous objection rule. See § 924.051(3), Fla. Stat. (2006); Reed v. State, 837 So. 2d 366, 370 (Fla. 2002). A fundamental error reaches "down into the validity of the trial itself to the extent that a verdict of guilty could not have been obtained without the assistance of the alleged error." State v. Weaver, 957 So. 2d 586, 588 (Fla. 2007) (quoting State v. Delva, 575 So. 2d 643, 644-45 (Fla. 1991)). The Fourth District has held that a per se reversible error means that a reviewing court does not undertake harmless error analysis to decide if a prejudicial error occurred. A per se reversible error is not necessarily a fundamental one. Rodan v. State, 967 So. 2d 444, 446-47 (Fla. 4th DCA 2007).

310). Furthermore, structural errors "necessarily render a trial fundamentally unfair." *Rose v. Clark*, 478 U.S. 570, 577 (1986). They "deprive defendants of 'basic protections' without which 'a criminal trial cannot reliably serve its function as a vehicle for determination of guilt or innocence . . . and no criminal punishment may be regarded as fundamentally fair." *See Neder*, 527 U.S. at 8-9 (quoting *Rose*, 478 U.S. at 577-78). Such errors in a trial "are so intrinsically harmful as to require automatic reversal (*i.e.*, "affect substantial rights") without regard to their effect on the outcome." *Id.* at 7.

In contrast to structural errors that require automatic reversal, errors subject to harmless-error review require the beneficiary of the error "to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the error complained of did not contribute to the verdict obtained." *See e.g.*, *Chapman v. California*, 386 U.S. 18, 24 (1967). Under the harmless-error test of *Chapman*, the State, as beneficiary of the error, must prove "that there is no reasonable possibility that the error contributed to the conviction." *State v. DiGuilio*, 491 So. 2d 1129, 1135 (Fla. 1986) (citing *Chapman*, 386 U.S. at 24)). The focus of the harmless-error analysis is on the effect of the error on the trier of fact. *Id.* at 1139. Furthermore, both the per se reversible-error rule and the harmless-error rule are concerned with the due process right to a fair trial. *Id.* at 1135. In acknowledging the shared concern of the two rules and the relationship between the two rules, this Court has explained:

[A] per se rule is nothing more than a determination that certain types of errors are always harmful, i.e., prejudicial. Per se reversible errors are limited to those errors which are "so basic to a fair trial that their infraction can never be treated as harmless error." *Chapman*, 386 U.S. at 23, 87 S. Ct. at 827-28. In other words, those errors which are *always* harmful. The test whether a given *type* of error can be properly categorized as per se reversible is the harmless error test itself. If application of the test to the type of error involved will always result in a finding that the error is harmful, then it is proper to categorize the error as per se reversible. If application of the test results in a finding that the type of error involved is not always harmful, then it is improper to categorize the error as per se reversible.

DiGuilio, 491 So. 2d at 1135; see also § 924.051(1)(a), Fla. Stat. ("Prejudicial error means an error in the trial court that harmfully affected the judgment or sentence.").

The denial of the right to trial by jury is one type of error that has been recognized as always harmful. In *Sullivan*, the United States Supreme Court addressed the denial of a defendant's Sixth Amendment right to a jury trial through a constitutionally deficient reasonable-doubt instruction. 508 U.S. at 276-78. The Court concluded that the deprivation of the right to a jury verdict of guilt beyond a reasonable doubt was "structural error." *Id.* at 281-82. The Court explained that the jury guarantee is a "basic protectio[n]" whose precise effects are unmeasurable, but without which a criminal trial cannot reliably serve its function." *Id.* at 281 (quoting *Rose*, 478 U.S. at 577).

While a defective reasonable-doubt instruction and the resulting denial of a jury trial is one instance in which the United States Supreme Court has found a

structural defect, another situation in which other courts have found a structural defect is where a defendant has been tried without a jury, and there has been no proper waiver of the right to a jury trial. At least two Florida courts have explicitly characterized such a denial of the right to trial by jury as structural error. *See Gyulveszi v. State*, 805 So. 2d 84, 85 (Fla. 2d DCA 2002) (concluding that the absence of a jury-trial waiver by the defendant in writing or on the record was structural error requiring reversal); *Abrams v. State*, 777 So. 2d 1205, 1206 (Fla. 4th DCA 2001) (describing the denial of a jury trial as a structural defect requiring automatic reversal).

This Court has also approved of the reversal of a conviction obtained without a valid waiver of the right to a jury trial. *See State v. Upton*, 658 So. 2d 86, 87-88 (Fla. 1995) (approving of a district court decision that reversed a defendant's conviction and sentence where the defendant's attorney, alone, waived a jury trial); *Tucker v. State*, 559 So. 2d 218, 220 (Fla. 1990) ("District courts have properly reversed convictions when the record contained no written waiver of a jury trial and the trial court failed to inquire into the defendant's waiver of a jury trial or conducted an insufficient inquiry.") (citing *Shuler v. State*, 463 So. 2d 464 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985); *Tosta v. State*, 352 So. 2d 526 (Fla. 4th DCA 1977)). Likewise, structural error has been found to occur where a defendant was totally deprived to the right to counsel at trial, as well as situations including a biased judge, unlawful

exclusion of members of the defendant's race from a grand jury, and denial of the right to self-representation at trial. *Fulminante*, 499 U.S. at 309-10.

On the other hand, in *Neder*, the United States Supreme Court held that the harmless-error test of *Chapman* may be applied to a jury instruction that omitted an element of the offense. *Neder*, 527 U.S. at 4. Specifically, the Court held that the harmless-error rule applied to the trial court's erroneous refusal to submit the issue of materiality, as an element of the charge of tax fraud, to the jury. *Id.* The Court reasoned that "an instruction that omits an element of the offense does not *necessarily* render a criminal trial fundamentally unfair or an unreliable vehicle for determining guilt or innocence." *Id.* at 9. The Court explained that its conclusion was "consistent with the holding (if not the entire reasoning) of *Sullivan v. Louisiana*." *Neder*, 527 U.S. at 10. The Court observed that unlike the error in *Sullivan*, the error in the case before it did not "vitiat[e] *all* the jury's findings." *Id.* at 11.

Similarly, in Florida, courts have found error to be harmless when, even absent the error, the same result would have been reached. For instance, a police witness' improper reference to the State's blood alcohol limit for the operation of a motor vehicle, in a prosecution for operating an aircraft while intoxicated or in a careless or reckless manner, was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt, where the evidence against the defendant was overwhelming and the State did not refer to the

police witness' reference in its closing argument. *Cloyd v. State*, 943 So. 2d 149, 165 (Fla. 3d DCA 2006), *review denied*, 959 So. 2d 715 (Fla. 2007). In addition, any error in a trial court's allowing the state to elicit testimony that the defendant had possessed weapons before, that he had handled concealed weapons before and had gone to jail as a result, and that he had handled firearms long ago when he was 18 years old, which was an improper line of questioning under the *Williams* rule for admitting evidence of collateral crimes, was harmless, in a trial for attempted murder, even though the defendant had an alibi witnesses; the victim and two of her family members unequivocally identified the defendant as the shooter, the alibi witnesses came forward for the first time on the second day of trial, and the testimony of at least one alibi witness was riddled with inconsistencies. *Sibert v. State*, 884 So. 2d 450, 451-52 (Fla. 3d DCA 2004).

Likewise, a trial court's error of admitting a detective's testimony that items found at the crime scene constituted a destructive device under state law was harmless in a prosecution for possession and discharge of a destructive device, since another investigator gave essentially the same testimony under questioning by the defense, and the defendant never argued that the object was not a destructive device. *Wallace v. State*, 860 So. 2d 494, 496 (Fla. 4th DCA 2003).

In the instant case, the trial court's read-back instruction simply does not fall within the limited class of cases involving structural error, and given the facts of

the trial court's instruction was announced after all the evidence had been presented. All of the witnesses, including the Petitioner's girlfriend, collectively and consistently indicated that the Petitioner was at the scene of the crime; that he fled while being chased by the police in a car and on foot; and that he was apprehended a short while later. In *Smith v. State*, 990 So. 2d 1162 (Fla. 3d DCA 2008), for example, the instruction given to the jury was as follows:

I will caution you, as I did earlier in the trial, that we do not have a simultaneous transcript of these proceedings. If you have a question regarding the facts, I will tell you that the jury must rely upon its recollection of the evidence. We cannot reopen the case or give you any further evidence to clear up any doubts. If you have a question regarding the law, the answer that I will give is that the jury has all the law that pertains to this case in those instructions. There are no other laws that apply to this case.

*Id.* at 1164. While finding such an instruction to be error, the district court held that that the error was not fundamental because it did not vitiate the defendant's right to a fair trial. *Id*.

Similarly, in *Diaz*, 567 So. 2d at 19, the trial court's instructions did not deprive the defendant of a fair trial. In that case, a defendant was convicted of the sale or delivery of cocaine after a brief two-witness trial. The State demonstrated, without dispute, that the defendant had sold two cocaine rocks to a police officer while he was being observed by another one. The defendant appealed the conviction, claiming a right to a new trial because the trial court instructed the jury,

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